IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 80376	May 27 2020 07:23 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
----------------	------------------------------------------------------------------

Electronically Filed

GREGORY GARMONG,

Appellant

--against--

WESPAC; GREG CHRISTIAN,

Respondents

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court of Washoe County, Nevada Judge Lynne Simons, Case No. CV12-01271

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Carl M. Hebert, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 250 202 California Ave. Reno, NV 89509 (775) 323-5556

Attorney for Appellant Gregory Garmong **NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and

entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These representations

are made in order that the judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification

or recusal.

Appellant Gregory Garmong is an individual. The undersigned has appeared

as counsel for him at all times in the District Court and this Court.

There have been no other counsel for the appellant in the District Court or this

Court.

/S/ Carl M. Hebert

CARL M. HEBERT, ESQ.

Attorney for appellant

- i -

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION	<u>PA</u>	<u>GE</u>
TABLE O	OF AUTHORITIES-ix	
JURISDIC	CTIONAL STATEMENT-xiv	
ROUTING	G STATEMENT-xv	
I. STATE	EMENT OF THE ISSUES-xvi	
II. STATI	EMENT OF THE CASE-1	
III. SCOP	PE OF THIS APPEAL-3	
IV. SUM	MARY OF THE ARGUMENT-4	
ARGUME	ENT-5	
V. STANI	DARD OF REVIEW OF ARBITRATOR'S AWARD-5	
1.	De novo review of the confirmation of an arbitrator's awa	ırd-5
2.	Standard for vacating an arbitrator's award-5	
3.	De novo review of decision on motion for summary judgm	ient-7
VI. PLAI	NTIFF'S MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGME	NT
THE ARB	BITRATOR DISREGARDED THE UNDISPUTED	
MATERIA	AL FACTS YET HELD "MANY OF THE FACTS	

BUT THEN DISREGARDED THE ANALYSIS MANDATED BY LAW-8

RELIED UPON BY CLAIMANT ARE INDEED 'UNDISPUTED,' "

- A. History of summary judgment proceeding-8
 - 1. Before the arbitrator-8
 - 2. Before the District Court-9
- B. The procedural law of adjudicating motions for summary judgment-9
- C. The arbitrator's Order Re: Summary Judgment disregarded both the facts and the applicable procedural, evidentiary, and substantive law of summary judgment-11
- 1. The Orders disregarded the UMFs established by PMPSJ, which were not disputed by Wespac-11
- 2. The arbitrator's Orders admitted that the material facts of PMPSJ were undisputed, and then disregarded the UMFs-13
- 3. The arbitrator's Orders disregarded the evidentiary law of summary judgment-13
- 4. The arbitrator's Orders disregarded the substantive law of the Claims-15
 - a. The content of the arbitrator's Orders-15
 - b. The Orders did not even mention the Claims-17
- D. The arbitrator's second Order, following Garmong's request for reconsideration, presented as the sole excuse for failing to follow the law of

Wood v. Safeway and the substantive law by calling for credibility determination as part of a summary judgment proceeding, thereby disregarding the authority that such credibility determinations are contrary to law-22

- E. The arbitrator's decision on PMPSJ must be vacated and reversed-23
 VII. THE ARBITRATOR DISREGARDED THE OVERT INTENTIONAL
 FRAUD AND DECEPTION BY WESPAC-23
- A. The arbitrator disregarded the legal duty of full disclosure of a fiduciary, those in a confidential relation, and under contract principles-24
- B. The arbitrator disregarded the facts and law establishing violations of NRS 628A.030 by Wespac and Christian-25
- 1. The arbitrator disregarded the facts establishing the prior discipline and suspension by the SEC of Defendant Christian for defrauding securities clients, and concealment from Garmong-26
- 2. The arbitrator disregarded the facts and law establishing the failure of Wespac to obey Nevada law requiring that it become licensed as an investment advisor, NRS 90.330, and concealment from Garmong-28
- 3. The arbitrator disregarded the facts and law establishing Wespac's failure to have the required insurance or bond, NRS 628A.040, and concealment from Garmong, and concealment from Garmong-29

- 4. The arbitrator disregarded the facts and law establishing Wespac's failure to register as a foreign LLC, NRS 86.544, and concealment from Garmong-30
- 5. The arbitrator disregarded the facts and law establishing Wespac's Violation of federal SEC law requiring a Code of Ethics, and concealing that deficiency from Garmong-31
- 6. The arbitrator disregarded the facts establishing Christian's false statements to the SEC that he had no other business interests outside Wespac, and concealing those misrepresentations from Garmong-32
- 7. The arbitrator disregarded the three fraudulent Christian affidavits filed in this lawsuit-32
- C. The arbitrator disregarded the significance of these violations. If Wespac and Christian had been truthful, Garmong would never have done business with them, they would not have depleted his retirement savings, and they would not have gotten the payments he made to them-33
- D. The arbitrator disregarded the liability of Wespac and Christian under NRS Ch. 628-35
- E. The arbitrator disregarded the liability of Wespac and Christian under NRS Ch. 598-37

- F. The arbitrator disregarded the liability of Wespac and Christian under Breach of Fiduciary Duty-37
- G. The arbitrator disregarded the amounts of dollar damages-38

 VIII. STATUTORY GROUNDS FOR VACATING THE ARBITRATOR'S

 SUMMARY JUDGMENT DECISION-38
- A. Statutory authority for vacating the arbitrator's final award-38
- B. First statutory ground: Wespac procured the award by fraud. (NRS 34.241(1)(a))-38
- C. Second statutory ground: No complete, unambiguous Contract including an arbitration clause was ever made of record; there was no Agreement to arbitrate. (NRS 34.241(1)(e))-41
- IX. NONSTATUTORY GROUNDS FOR VACATING ARBITRATOR'S
 AWARD-45
- A. The arbitrator's Final Award was arbitrary, capricious, or was unsupported by the agreement, and disregarded the facts or the terms of the arbitration agreement-45
 - 1. The previously established discussed nonstatutory grounds-45
- 2. The arbitrator manifestly disregarded the fact that Plaintiff was an elderly person over the age of 60 years, and disregarded the provisions of NRS

598.0933 and 598.0977 that grant special protection to the elderly-46

- 3. The arbitrator disregarded the reprehensible preying of Defendants upon the elderly-47
- B. The arbitrator manifestly disregarded the governing statutory and caseauthority law-49

X. ATTORNEYS FEES-49

- A. The arbitrator disregarded the JAMS rule providing that the parties and the arbitrator may agree on the rules governing the arbitration, and that the arbitrator "shall" be guided by those rules agreed upon by the Parties-50
- B. The arbitrator disregarded the fact that at the outset of arbitration, the parties agreed, and the arbitrator ordered, that NRCP Rule 68 would not be included in the governing rules of the arbitration-51
- C. The arbitrator disregarded JAMS Rule 24's limitation of the award of attorney's fees to grounds agreed to by the parties, and that the parties had not agreed that NRCP 68 would be a governing rule of the arbitration-54
- D. The arbitrator disregarded the fact that the Order set forth separate (1) agreement between the parties and (2) an order of the arbitrator that NRCP 68 would not be part of the governing law of the arbitration. Neither subsequently changed.-55

- E. The arbitrator disregarded the legal principle that parties must be able to trust the representations made by the arbitrator-56
- F. The arbitrator disregarded the fact that Plaintiff should have prevailed in PMPSJ and the hearing under the facts and law, and that there could be no award of attorney's fees to Wespac-56

XI. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION-57

ATTORNEY'S CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE-59

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>CASES</u>

A.C. Shaw Construction v. Washoe County, 105 Nev. 913, 784 P.2d 9 (1989)-25

All Star Bonding v. State of Nevada, 119 Nev. 47, 62 P.3d 1124 (2003)-43, 44

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242 (1986)-22

Bass-Davis v. Davis, 122 Nev. 442, 134 P.3d 103 (2006)-44

<u>Clark County Educ. Ass'n v. Clark County School Dist.</u>, 122 Nev. 337, 131 P.3d 5 (2006)-6, 23, 57

Coblentz v. Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees Union, 112 Nev. 1161 925 P.2d 496 (1996)-14

<u>Dodge Bros., Inc. v. Williams Estate</u>, 52 Nev. 364, 287 P. 282 (1930)-43

Estate of Wildhaber ex rel. Halbrook v. Life Care Centers, 2012 WL 5287980 (D. Nev. 2012)-47

Evans v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 116 Nev. 598, 5 P.3d 1043 (2000)-47

Graber v. Comstock Bank, 111 Nev. 1421, 905 P.2d 1112 (1995)-7

Havas v. Hughes Estate, 98 Nev. 172, 643 P.2d 1220 (1982)-14

Health Plan of Nevada v. Rainbow Med., 120 Nev. 689, 695, 100 P.3d 172, 176 (2004)-5

Henry Prods., Inc. v. Tarmu, 114 Nev. 1017, 967 P.2d 444 (1998)-49

<u>J.A. Jones Constr. v. Lehrer McGovern Bovis</u>, 120 Nev. 277, 89 P.3d 1009 (2004)-25

Mastrobuono v. Shearson Lehman Hutton, Inc., 514 U.S. 52, 115 S.Ct. 1212 (1995)-43

May v. Anderson, 121 Nev. 668, 119 P.3d 1254 (2005)-43

Nagib v. Conner, 192 F.3d 127 (5th Cir. 1999)-56

Nalder v. Lewis, 136 Nev. Advanced Opinion 24 (2020)-9

Nelson v. Heer, 123 Nev. 217, 163 P.3d 420 (2007)-39

Obstetrics and Gynecologists v. Pepper, 101 Nev. 105, 693 P.2d 1259 (1985)-42

Parsons v. First Investors Corp., 122 F.3d 525 (8th Cir. 1997)-47, 48

Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc., 118 Nev. 706, 57 P.3d 82 (2002)-23

Perry v. Jordan, 111 Nev. 943, 900 P.2d 335 (1995)-24, 35

Randono v. Turk, 86 Nev. 123, 466 P.2d 218 (1970)-24, 26, 35

State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Armstrong), 127 Nev. 927, 267 P.3d 777 (2011)-15

<u>State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Zogheib)</u>, 130 Nev. 158, 161, 321 P.3d 882, 884 (2014)-45

Thomas v. City of North Las Vegas, 122 Nev. 82, 127 P.3d 1057 (2006)-5

U.S. Design & Const. Corp. v. International Broth. of Elec. Workers, 118 Nev. 458, 50 P.3d 170 (2002)-49

United States v. Buchanan, 59 F.3d 914 (9th Cir.1995)-56

Washington v. Glucksberg, 521 U.S. 702 (1997)-47

Wichinsky v. Mosa, 109 Nev. 84, 847 P.2d 727 (1993)-45

Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005)-2, 7, 10, 11, 13, 15, 16, 17, 22, 23

WPH Architecture, Inc. v. Vegas VP, LP, 131 Nev. 884, 360 P.3d 1145 (2015)-5

STATUTES

NRS 38.241-38

NRS 34.241(1)(a)-38

NRS 34.241(1)(e)-41

NRS 38.219(1)-44

NRS 38.219(2) -44

NRS 38.221(1)-42

NRS 38.221(3)-43

NRS 38.231(3)-41

NRS 38.241-3, 4, 5, 9

NRS 38.241(1)(e)-41

NRS 38.243(1)-xiv

NRS 41.1395-21

NRS 42.005-38, 39

NRS 47.250(3)-44

NRS 86.544-30

NRS 86.544(1)-30

NRS 90.330-28

NRS 90.330(1)-28, 29

NRS Ch. 598-19, 37, 46

NRS 598.0933-46, 47

NRS 598.0977-46, 47

NRS Ch. 628A-35

NRS 628A.010(3)-24, 26

NRS 628A.020-1, 24, 26, 35

NRS 628A.030-20, 25, 36

NRS 628A.030(1)-37

NRS 628A.030(2)(a)-27, 29, 30, 31, 32, 36, 37

NRS 628A.030(2)(c)-28, 29, 30, 36

NRS 628A.040-29, 30

RULES

JAMS Rule 24-50, 54, 55

JAMS Rule 24(c)-54

JAMS Rule 24(g)-54

NRAP Rule 3A(b)(1)-xiv

NRAP 17(b)(5)-xv

NRAP 26.1(a)-i

NRCP 6-54

NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(A-D)-54

NRCP 30-54

NRCP 33-54

NRCP 34-54

NRCP 37-54

NRCP 56-8, 9, 10, 23

NRCP 56(c)-9, 12

NRCP 56(d)-13

NRCP 56(e)-12, 14

NRCP 68-3, 5, 50, 51, 52, 53, 54, 55, 56

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The basis for the jurisdiction of this Court is NRAP Rule 3A(b)(1): "A final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." This is appeal from an order confirming an arbitration award. NRS 38.243(1). On March 11, 2019, the arbitrator issued his Final Award (JA 5/0727). Garmong requested that the Final Award be vacated by the District Court, and on August 8, 2019 the District Court entered an order confirming the arbitrator's Final Award (JA 6/1095). Garmong moved to alter or amend this Order. Notice of entry of the District Court's Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend was served and filed on December 9, 2019 (JA 7/1221). The District Court's Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend was a final order which terminated the underlying case.

Appellant Garmong his filed Notice of Appeal on January 7, 2020 (JA 7/1238).

References to the Joint Appendix ("JA") include the volume number, a slash and the document number found in the lower right corner of each page followed, when appropriate, by a colon and the line number on the page.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an arbitration order in favor of the defendants/respondents and from a post-confirmation order awarding them attorney's fees. It is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b)(5) (Appeals from a judgment, exclusive of interest, attorney fees, and costs, of \$250,000 or less in a tort case) and (7) (Appeals from postjudgment orders in civil cases).

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether an arbitrator may disregard the facts and substantive law of Nevada to decide in favor of those whose reckless incompetence deprived an elderly Nevada resident of his retirement savings.
- 2. Whether by submitting to arbitration, a party gives up the right to have his case decided by the established facts and the governing law.
- 3. Whether the denial of Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("PMPSJ") by the arbitrator was arbitrary, capricious or unsupported by the arbitration agreement, in manifest disregard of the law or violated the statutory mandates.
- 4. Whether the arbitrator's failure to consider Wespac's obligations of disclosure to the elderly in deciding the PMPSJ was arbitrary, capricious or unsupported by the arbitration agreement, in manifest disregard of the law or violated the statutory mandates.
- 5. Whether the arbitrator's award of attorney's fees and costs to Wespac was arbitrary, capricious, or unsupported by the agreement, in manifest disregard of the law or violated the statutory mandates.
- 6. Whether this Court will uphold an arbitration award which supports and encourages the preying upon the elderly by "investment advisors" such as

Respondents.

7. Whether out-of-state "investment advisors" may come to Nevada, willfully violate numerous Nevada regulatory statutes and federal regulations, deceive the elderly and destroy their life savings.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a District Court Order confirming Orders by an arbitrator.

Defendants are financial advisors and planners who, by law, NRS 628A.020, have a fiduciary duty to their clients, including a duty of full disclosure. The Plaintiff, over the age of 60 at the time, entrusted a portion of his life savings to Defendants/Respondents Wespac and Christian (collectively sometimes "Wespac") to manage and provide for his retirement. Wespac is an Oakland, California company that, at the time of events, had recently opened an office in Reno. In their initial dealings and later, Wespac concealed that Defendant Christian had previously been disciplined and suspended by the governing body of financial advisors and planners, the United States Securities Exchange Commission ("SEC"), for defrauding clients. Wespac also concealed that they had violated, and were continuing to violate, numerous regulatory laws of the State of Nevada governing financial advisors and planners, and foreign LLCs, as well as numerous SEC regulations.

These factual misrepresentations and the concealment of information were all highly material because Dr. Garmong testified that he "never, never, never would have remotely considered doing business with" Defendants if he had known the truth of the information that Defendants falsified and/or concealed.

This initial deception by Wespac, not discovered by Garmong until after this lawsuit had commenced, set the tone for Wespac's dishonesty in their dealings. This dishonesty resulted in Wespac negligently wasting hundreds of thousands of dollars of Garmong's retirement savings at a time after he had retired and could not replace the losses by subsequent earnings.

Plaintiff filed his Complaint in the Second Judicial District Court. At an early stage Christian falsified three Declarations to persuade the District Court to refer the matter to arbitration. During the arbitration, at the arbitrator's invitation, Garmong filed Plaintiff's PMPSJ, which was fully briefed. In ruling on the PMPSJ the arbitrator admitted that "Many of the facts relied upon by Claimant [Garmong] are indeed 'undisputed,'" yet disregarded Plaintiff's Undisputed Material Facts and the legal approach mandated by Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). The arbitrator excused his disregard for the law by calling for a "merits hearing" as part of the summary judgment procedure to test credibility of the witnesses, which is directly contrary to law and which he never held in any event. The arbitrator denied the PMPSJ, and the District Judge later affirmed the denial.

The case then proceeded to arbitration discovery and a three-day hearing, which resulted in the arbitrator's Final Award in favor of Wespac. In reaching this decision, the arbitrator disregarded both the facts and the law presented to him.

Early in the arbitration, the parties had agreed upon, and the arbitrator had ordered, the rules governing the case, as permitted by the arbitration agency JAMS. This governing law did not include NRCP Rule 68, providing for offers of judgment. About a month after this agreement and order, Wespac nevertheless made an offer of judgement, to which Garmong did not respond. About 20 months later, after the arbitrator had ruled in favor of Wespac on the substance of the case, the arbitrator awarded Wespac attorney's fees based upon the offer of judgment. The parties never changed their agreement, and the arbitrator never changed his Order, establishing that NRCP Rule 68 was not included in the law governing the arbitration.

Garmong then brought motions to vacate the arbitrator's decisions. These were denied by the District Court. This appeal followed.

III. SCOPE OF THIS APPEAL

The inquiry in this appeal is <u>not</u> whether the arbitrator considered the facts and law in deciding PMPSJ and made an error in attempting to apply the law to the facts, or made a mistake in his interpretation of the law. Instead, it is whether the arbitrator manifestly disregarded facts and law and whether the arbitrator's Orders fell within the statutory grounds to vacate awards set forth in NRS 38.241.

The Nevada Supreme Court has rejected some appeals of arbitrators' decisions because the appellant sought to argue the merits of the case or to treat the

appeal of an arbitrator's decision like the appeal of a district court decision. Here, the appeal of the arbitrator's denial of PMPSJ centers on the arbitrator's disregard of the undisputed material facts and law and the violation of statute. The appeal cannot be based on the arbitrator's misunderstanding of the facts or the law, because the arbitrator did not discuss or reveal his understanding of either the facts or the law.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal deals primarily with the arbitrator's failure to decide PMPSJ properly. A review of the arbitrator's two Orders (JA 3/0366-0369 and 3/0391-0394) regarding summary judgment reveals the basic argument. The Orders do not discuss the applicable undisputed material facts or the procedural, evidentiary, or substantive law of summary judgment. These Orders are utterly unlike any other orders purporting to decide summary judgment motions, as they disregard and ignore both the facts and the law. There could be no more concrete evidence of the arbitrator's intent to disregard the facts and law than by ignoring them.

The arbitrator ignored and manifestly disregarded the facts and law establishing that Plaintiff should prevail on the tort claims of the First Amended Complaint ("FAC," JA 1/020-030). The deception and fraud of the Defendants clearly required an award for Plaintiff on those Claims.

The arbitrator ignored the statutory grounds, NRS 38.241, mandating granting

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