THOMAS C. BRADLEY, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 1621 435 Marsh Avenue Reno, Nevada 89509 Telephone (775) 323-5178 Facsimile (775) 323-0709 <u>Tom@TomBradleyLaw.com</u> Attorney for Respondents

Electronically Filed Jun 24 2020 09:03 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

GREGORY O. GARMONG,

Appellant,

Case No. 80376

v.

WESPAC; GREG CHRISTIAN,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court

<u>RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF AND</u> <u>REQUEST FOR REMAND FOR THE AWARD OF ATTORNEY'S FEES</u> <u>AND COSTS INCURRED BY RESPONDENTS ON APPEAL</u>

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

The Nevada Court of Appeals recently summarized the correct standard of

review in the confirmation of arbitration awards:

This court reviews a district court decision to confirm an arbitration award de novo. *Thomas v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 122 Nev. 82, 97, 127 P.3d 1057, 1067 (2006). But the scope of the district court's review of an arbitration award (and, consequently, our own de novo review of the district court's decision) is extremely limited and is "nothing like the scope of an appellate court's review of a trial court's decision." *Health Plan of Nev., Inc. v. Rainbow Med., LLC*, 120 Nev. 689, 695, 100 P.3d 172, 176 (2004). "A reviewing court should not concern itself with the 'correctness' of an arbitration award and thus does not review the merits of the dispute." *Bohlmann v. Printz*, 120 Nev. 543, 547, 96 P.3d 1155, 1158 (2004) (*quoting Thompson v. Tega–Rand Int'l.*, 740 F.2d 762, 763 (9th Cir. 1984)), overruled on other grounds by *Bass–Davis v. Davis*, 122 Nev. 442, 452 n.32, 134 P.3d 103, 109 n.32 (2006).

Rather, when a contractual agreement mandates that disputes be resolved through binding arbitration, courts give considerable deference to the arbitrator's decision. Judicial review is limited to inquiring only whether a petitioner has proven, clearly and convincingly, that one of the following is true: the arbitrator's actions were arbitrary, capricious, or unsupported by the agreement; the arbitrator manifestly disregarded the law; or one of the specific statutory grounds set forth in NRS 38.241(1) was met. *Clark Cty. Educ. Ass'n v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist.*, 122 Nev. 337, 341, 131 P.3d 5, 8 (2006); *Health Plan of Nev.*, 120 Nev. at 695, 100 P.3d at 176.

Knickmeyer v. State ex. rel. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 408 P.3d 161, 164 (Nev.

App. 2017).

"The party seeking to attack the validity of an arbitration award has the burden of proving, *by clear and convincing evidence*, the statutory or common-law ground relied upon for challenging the award." <u>Health Plan of Nevada v. Rainbow Med.</u>, 120 Nev. 689, 695, 100 P.3d 172, 176 (Nev. 2004)(emphasis added).

- **B.** Appellant failed to meet his burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, that the Arbitrator's denial of Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is a legally adequate ground to vacate the Arbitration Award.
 - 1. The Arbitrator's denial of Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment is not reviewable following an Arbitration Hearing on the merits.

Appellant Gregory Garmong seeks review of Judge Pro's interlocutory decision that the case should proceed to hearing and not be decided by Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. As discussed below in detail, it is well established that an order denying summary judgment is not appealable after a hearing on the merits.

A Rule 56(d) order granting partial summary judgment from which no immediate appeal lies is merged into the final judgment and reviewable on appeal from that final judgment. <u>Aaro, Inc. v. Daewoo International (America) Corp.</u>, 755 F.2d 1398, 1400 (11th Cir.1985), and cases cited therein; *see also* <u>Eudy v. Motor-Guide, Herschede Hall Clock Co.</u>, 604 F.2d 17, 18, 203 USPQ 721 (5th Cir.1979). An order granting a judgment on certain issues is a judgment on those issues. It

forecloses further dispute on those issues at the trial stage.

An order denying a motion for partial summary judgment, on the other hand, is merely a judge's determination that genuine issues of material fact exist. It is not a judgment and does not foreclose trial on the issues on which summary judgment was sought. *See* <u>Glaros v. H.H. Robertson Co.</u>, 797 F.2d 1564, 1573 (Fed. Cir. 1986). It "does not settle or even tentatively decide anything about the merits of the claim." <u>Switzerland Cheese Association, Inc. v. E. Horne's Market, Inc.</u>, 385 U.S. 23, 25 (1966), 87 S.Ct. 193, 195, 17 L.Ed.2d 23 (1966).

Denial of summary judgment "is strictly a pretrial order that decides only one thing—that the case should go to trial," i.e., that the claim remains pending for trial. <u>Switzerland Cheese Ass'n, Inc.</u>, 385 U.S. at 25. "An order denying a motion for summary judgment is interlocutory, non-final, and non-appealable." <u>Parker Brothers</u> <u>v. Tuxedo Monopoly, Inc.</u>, 757 F.2d 254, 255, (Fed.Cir.1985)(citations omitted). Accordingly, a denial of summary judgment is not properly reviewable on an appeal from the final judgment entered after trial. *See Glaros v. H.H. Robertson Co.*, 797 F.2d at 1573.

The Eighth Circuit held that a "ruling by a district court denying summary judgment is interlocutory in nature and not appealable after a full trial on the merits." Johnson Int'l Co. v. Jackson Nat'l Life Ins. Co., 19 F.3d 431 (8th Cir.1994). The Johnson Court explained that: The final judgment from which an appeal lies in the

judgment on the verdict. The judgment on the verdict, in turn, is based not on the pretrial filings [to support summary judgment] under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c), but on the evidence adduced at trial. *Id.* at 434.

The Johnson Court explained that the primary question on summary judgment is whether there exists a genuine issue of material fact as to the elements of the party's claim. *Id.* Once the summary judgment motion is denied and the case proceeds to trial, however, the question of whether a party has met its burden must be answered with reference to the evidence and the record as a whole rather than by looking to the pretrial submissions alone. *Id.* The district court's judgment on the verdict after a full trial on the merits thus supersedes the earlier summary judgment proceedings. *Id.*

In <u>Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Golden Triangle</u>, the Eighth Circuit further held that appellant's proposed dichotomy between a summary judgment denied on factual grounds and one denied on legal grounds, was both problematic and without merit because <u>district courts are not required to delineate why it denied summary</u> judgment, therefore, the acceptance of appellant's proposed distinction would require the reviewing court to "to engage in the dubious undertaking of determining the bases on which summary judgment is denied and whether those bases are 'legal' or 'factual." 121 F.3d 351, 355 (8th. 1997)(citations omitted)(underscoring added).

Thus, the Metro Life Court reasoned that such an approach that would require

it to "craft a new jurisprudence based on a series of dubious distinctions between law and fact, inviting potentially confusing and inconsistent case law to benefit only those summary judgment movants who have failed to abide by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure"; the court found such an approach to be "unjustified and decline[d] to adopt it." 121 F.3d at 355. In rejecting the appellant's proposed approach, the Court stated "…we note that our decision is in harmony with the majority of the other circuits that have considered whether an appellate court may review a pretrial denial of a motion for summary judgment after a full trial and judgment on the merits." *Id.* at 355-356 (citations omitted).

The <u>Metro Life</u> Court further concluded that it should not ignore the persuasive policy and prudential considerations advanced by the aforementioned courts and allowing such appeals would unduly circumscribe the discretion of the district court to "deny summary judgment in a case where there is a reason to believe that the better course would be to proceed to a full trial." 121 F.3d at 356, *citing* <u>Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.</u>, 477 U.S. 242, 255, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2513, 91 L.Ed.2d 202 (1986) (citation omitted); *accord* <u>Black v. J.I. Case Company, Inc.</u>, 22 F.3d 568, 572 (5th Cir. 1994). "Because the denial [of the summary judgment motion] decided nothing but a need for trial and trial has occurred," we now adopt "the general and better view against review of summary judgment denials on appeal from a final judgment entered after trial." <u>Glaros</u>, 797 F.2d at 1573 n. 14, *see* <u>Metro</u>.

Life Ins. Co. v. Golden Triangle, 121 F.3d 351, 356 (8th Cir. 1997).

Similarly, the Ninth Circuit held that it would be unjust to deprive a party of a trial verdict after the evidence was fully presented, on the basis of an appellate court's review of whether the pleadings and affidavits at the time of the summary judgment motion demonstrated the need for a trial. *See* Locricchio v. Legal Servs. Corp., 833 F.2d 1352, 1359 (9th Cir. 1987)(holding that "the denial of a motion for summary judgment is not reviewable on an appeal from a final judgment entered after a full trial on the merits").

The Eleventh Circuit court aptly explained that "Summary judgment is designed to weed out those cases so clearly meritorious or so clearly lacking in merit that the full trial process need not be activated to resolve them. Summary judgment was not intended to be a bomb planted within the litigation at its early stages and exploded on appeal; instead, it was intended as a device to diminish the effort, time, and costs associated with unnecessary trials." <u>Holley v. Northrop Worldwide</u> <u>Aircraft Servs., Inc.</u>, 835 F.2d 1375, 1377 (11th Cir. 1988).

For the reasons expressed above, the overwhelming majority of reviewing Courts have held that they need not consider the propriety of an order denying summary judgment once there has been a full hearing on the merits. *See* <u>Watson v</u> <u>Amedco Steel, Inc.</u>, 29 F3d 274, 277 (7th Cir. 1994).

Although the foregoing cases involve a trial court's denial of summary

judgment, the reasoning is equally applicable to arbitrations. Moreover, NRS 38.241 only references a motion to vacate an "award" with no reference to interlocutory rulings such as a denial of partial summary judgment.

2. Judge Pro's denial of Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was proper.

Even if such an Order was appealable, Judge Pro correctly ruled that there were issues of material fact precluding the granting of Mr. Garmong's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. JA 3:366-368.

During the Arbitration, Wespac and Mr. Christian demonstrated in their Opposition pleadings that there were material issues of disputed facts on each and every claim brought by Mr. Garmong.

Moreover, Mr. Garmong's fifty-page *Motion for Summary Judgment* was convoluted, hard to comprehend, and its reasoning was highly questionable. JA 1:59-110. In their *Opposition*, Respondents, however, dedicated substantial time and effort to explain why the *Motion for Summary Judgment* was meritless, in part because there are so many disputed material issues of facts that the *Motion* should be summarily denied. JA 3:246-263. The Appellant's *Motion for Summary Judgment* was so voluminous, Respondents may have failed to specifically identify each and every material fact in dispute. Mr. Christian's Affidavit, however, adequately refuted the Appellant's baseless claims. JA 3:265-270.

3. Judge Pro did not evaluate witness credibility when he ruled upon Mr. Garmong's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

Mr. Garmong attempts to mislead this Court by contending that Judge Pro evaluated the credibility of witnesses when he denied Mr. Garmong's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. JA 5:863. Mr. Garmong either fails to understand the rules governing summary judgment or he hopes that he can mislead this court as to the basis of Judge Pro's decision. In his initial ruling, Judge Pro explained that he was applying the law in accord with the Nevada Supreme Court's decision in <u>Wood v. Safeway</u>, 121P.3d 1026,1029-1031(2005). He concluded that based upon the <u>Wood</u> standard, Mr. Garmong's claims were not "amenable to resolution on summary judgment." JA 3:366-368.

After Mr. Garmong raised his same arguments for partial summary judgment in a subsequent Motion for Reconsideration, Judge Pro reiterated that:

Claimant's basis for reconsideration is grounded in the well settled law of Nevada that summary judgment <u>shall</u> be granted, "if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." NRCP 56(c). That is precisely the standard applied by the Arbitrator in concluding that summary judgment was not warranted.

The exhaustive analysis provided in Claimant's original motion, and the voluminous declarations and exhibits attached thereto articulate Claimants view of the evidence supporting his claims. Many of the facts relied upon by claimant are indeed "undisputed." Viewed in context, however, the conclusion of the Arbitrator then, and now is that they do not entitle Claimant to judgment as a matter of law without first affording Defendants the opportunity to defend the claims at a merits hearing.

Moreover, Nevada law does not require that an arbitrator or judge parse and render a dispositive ruling on every fact asserted by each party as undisputed. The standard to be applied is to "if practicable, ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy" which are material to the resolution of a claim such that a trial on the merits of that claim is unnecessary. *Id*.

A merits hearing is particularly appropriate where, as here, the resolution of the claims is so heavily dependent on the opportunity of the parties to test the credibility of the two, principle witnesses, Gregory Garmong and Greg Christian, and on the Arbitrator's opportunity to assess and weigh the credibility of each witness, and all the evidence in that context.

JA 3:391-394.

Judge Pro clearly determined that because there were disputed issues of material fact as to each claim for relief, a 'trial on the merits" also known as a "merits hearing" was required by Rule 56. At no time did Judge Pro assess witness credibility as part of his Rule 56 decision. Mr. Garmong's argument to the contrary is merely another attempt to mislead this Court. Mr. Garmong's argument that Judge Pro failed to understand the requirements of ruling upon a motion for summary judgment is difficult to accept given Judge Pro's decades of experience on the Federal bench.

In conclusion, Judge Pro's Order denying summary judgment is not reviewable after a hearing on the merits. Even if such an Order was subject to review, Judge Pro correctly ruled that there were issues of material fact precluding the granting of Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

C. Appellant failed to meet his burden of proving, by clear and convincing evidence, that the Arbitrator intentionally disregarded material facts or intentionally refused to follow the law.

There is no requirement that Judge Pro identify each law he relied upon and to rule upon every non-material issue raised by Mr. Garmong. In the Investment Management Agreement, the parties specifically agreed that there was no requirement that the arbitration award ever include factual findings or conclusions of law. RA 2:0320.

Moreover, JAMS Rule 19 (g) provides that: "[t]he Award shall consist of a written statement signed by the Arbitrator regarding the disposition of each claim and the relief, if any, as to each claim. Unless all Parties agree otherwise, the Award shall also contain a concise written statement of the reasons for the Award. Thus, Judge Pro more than complied with the requirements of the Investment Management Agreement and the JAMS Rules governing the Arbitration."

Additionally, it is well established that arbitration awards, which would include interlocutory arbitration decisions, are not required to discuss each and every factual allegation or legal claim. In <u>Waddell, v. Holiday Isle, LLC</u>, the Alabama Federal District Court held that although an arbitrator's failure to explicitly address all arguments results in some aesthetic "imperfection," the award is valid and enforceable as long as it resolves all issues submitted to arbitration. 2009 WL 2413668 (S.D. Ala. Aug. 4, 2009).

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